292

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

vs. No. 19-0636

SCOTT A. CURNUTTE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806]
Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
rfcipoletti@wvodc.org
Andrea J. Hinerman [Bar No. 8041]
Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
ahinerman@wvodc.org
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
City Center East, Suite 1200C
4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE
Charleston, West Virginia 25304
(304) 558-7999
(304) 558-4015 – facsimile

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

Formal charges were filed against Scott A. Curnutte (hereinafter "Respondent") with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia (hereinafter "Supreme Court") on or about July 11, 2019, and served upon Respondent via certified mail by the Supreme Court Clerk on July 18, 2019. Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel filed her mandatory discovery on or about August 2, 2019. Respondent filed his Answer to the Statement of Charges on or about August 21, 2019. Respondent provided his mandatory discovery on September 9, 2019. An evidentiary hearing was set for October 22, 2019.

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing in Charleston, West Virginia, on October 22, 2019. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter "HPS") was comprised of Elizabeth Layne Diehl, Esquire, Chairperson; Rhonda Harsh, Esquire; and Charlotte Norris, Layperson. Andrea J. Hinerman, Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC"). Respondent appeared *pro se*. The HPS heard testimony from Diane Young and Respondent. In addition, ODC Exhibits 1-10, Respondent's Exhibit 1 and Stipulations¹ were admitted into evidence.

On or about February 13, 2020, the HPS issued its decision in this matter and filed its "Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee" (hereinafter "Report") with the Supreme Court. The HPS properly found that the evidence established that Respondent violated Rule 8.4(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct (hereinafter "RPC"). The HPS issued the following recommendation as the appropriate sanction:

¹ The parties stipulated only to Findings of Fact, Rule 3.16 Factors, and Other Stipulations. [Stipulations]

- 1. That Respondent's law license be suspended for one hundred (100) days;
- That prior to filing a petition for reinstatement pursuant to Rule 3.32 of the Rules
 of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, Respondent must complete an additional six
 (6) hours of CLE in ethics;
- That Respondent must comply with the mandates of Rule 3.28 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure;
- 4. That prior to filing a petition for reinstatement pursuant to Rule 3.32 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, Respondent must pay the costs of these proceedings pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure; and
- 5. That at the time of filing a petition for reinstatement pursuant to Rule 3.32 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, Respondent shall fully and accurately disclose to the Lawyer Disciplinary Board what efforts, if any, he has made to procure professional liability insurance.

B. STIPULATED FINDINGS OF FACT

Scott A. Curnutte (hereinafter "Respondent") is a lawyer practicing in Elkins, which is located in Randolph County, West Virginia. Respondent, having passed the bar exam, was admitted to The West Virginia State Bar on September 23, 1991. As such, Respondent is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board. [Stipulated]

COUNT I I.D. No. 18-01-033 Complaint of Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel

Article III(A), Section 2 of the Constitution, By-Laws and Rules and Regulations of the West Virginia State Bar² provides, in part, that "[e]very active lawyer shall disclose to the West Virginia State Bar on or before September 1 of each year (1) whether the lawyer is engaged in the private practice of law; (2) if so engaged, whether the lawyer is currently covered by professional liability insurance ...; (3) if the lawyer is so engaged and not covered by professional liability insurance in the above minimum amounts, whether the lawyer has another form of adequate financial responsibility ...; (4) whether there is any unsatisfied final judgment(s) after appeal against either the lawyer, or any firm or any professional corporation in which the lawyer has practiced, ... and (5) whether the lawyer is exempt from the provisions of this Rule because the lawyer is engaged in the practice of law as a full-time government lawyer or in-house counsel and does not represent clients outside that capacity. It is the duty of every active lawyer to report any changes which occur." [Stipulated]

Article III(A), Section 3, of the Constitution, By-Laws and Rules and Regulations of the West Virginia State Bar further provides that "[t]he foregoing shall be certified by each active lawyer admitted to practice law in West Virginia on the State Bar's Active Membership Fee Notice" [Stipulated]

For the 2014-2015 fiscal year, Respondent reported and certified to the West Virginia State Bar on his Financial Responsibility Disclosure (hereinafter "FRD") that he and his law

² By Order entered on December 30, 2019, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia adopted amendments to the West Virginia State Bar Constitution, Definition of the Practice of Law, West Virginia Bylaws, and West Virginia Administrative Rules. The amendments replaced the former West Virginia State Bar Constitution, Definition of the Practice of Law, West Virginia Bylaws, and West Virginia Administrative Rules in their entirety. All references to the West Virginia State Bar Constitution herein are to the West Virginia State Bar Constitution, Definition of the Practice of Law, West Virginia Bylaws, and West Virginia Administrative Rules which were in effect at the time of the conduct and the underlying proceedings.

firm, Curnutte Law Office, were insured under ALPS policy 13019-5. [Stipulated; Exhibit 1, 000003; Exhibit 6, 000055-000058; Hrg. Tr. 13-15]

For the 2015-2016 fiscal year, Respondent reported and certified to the West Virginia State Bar on his Financial Responsibility Disclosure that he and his law firm, Curnutte Law Office, were insured under ALPS policy 13019-5. [Stipulated; Id.]

For the 2016-2017 fiscal year, Respondent reported and certified to the West Virginia State Bar on his FRD that he and his law firm, Curnutte Law Office, were insured under ALPS policy 13019-5. [Stipulated; Id.]

For the 2017-2018 fiscal year, Respondent reported and certified to the West Virginia State Bar on his FRD that he and his law firm, Curnutte Law Office, were insured under ALPS policy 13019-8. [Stipulated; Id.; Hrg. Tr. 15-16]

ALPS policy 13019-5 lapsed on March 1, 2014, and ALPS policy 13019-8 did not exist.

[Stipulated, Exhibit 3, 000026; Exhibit 6, 000055-000058; Hrg. Tr. 14-15]

On August 30, 2018, Respondent appeared at the ODC for a sworn statement after a complaint against him was docketed pursuant to Rule 2.4(a) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure³ on or about January 29, 2018. [Stipulated; Exhibit 6]

In or about 2014, Respondent became a sole practitioner after two (2) attorney employees left his firm. About a year later, Respondent hired another attorney to work in his firm. However, at the time of his sworn statement, Respondent was a sole practitioner. [Stipulated; Exhibit 6, 000037-000038, 000059-000060; Hrg. Tr. 9-10]

Respondent stated that only he had access to his West Virginia State Bar portal to input information concerning his FRD information. After his ALPS insurance policy was not renewed

³ Rule 2.4(a) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure provides, in part, that the ODC "shall evaluate all information coming to its attention by complaint or from other sources alleging lawyer misconduct or incapacity...."

in 2014, and until 2016, Respondent stated that he checked the FRD box which contained his lapsed ALPS policy number, indicating that he maintained professional liability insurance. [Stipulated; Exhibit 6, 000057-00059; Hrg. Tr. 13-17]

In 2016, when he went to check the FRD box, his old ALPS policy number was not in the box, and Respondent said he created an ALPS policy number and inputted the fictitious number into the FRD box in his attorney portal on the West Virginia State Bar website. [Stipulated; Exhibit 6, 000058; Hrg. Tr. 13-17]

Respondent admitted that for the 2015-2016, 2016-2017, and 2017-2018 fiscal years, he knew it was a misrepresentation when he checked the FRD box in the attorney portal on the West Virginia State Bar website indicating that he had professional liability insurance coverage. [Stipulated; Exhibit 6, 000057-000058; Hrg. Tr. 13-17]

Respondent also acknowledged that when his now former attorney employee asked him about the insurance policy information so that she could input the required FRD information to comply with her own reporting requirement for fiscal years 2015-2016, 2016-2017, and 2017-2018, Respondent "pulled up [his] own information on the bar site and then just read it off to her is [his] recollection." Respondent admitted that at the time he provided his attorney employee with the insurance policy information, he knew that the ALPS policy information contained therein was not accurate. [Stipulated; Exhibit 6, 000066-000067; Hrg. Tr. 16-17]

C. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Because Respondent certified to the West Virginia State Bar on his FRD that he was engaged in the private practice of law in the State of West Virginia and that he was currently covered by professional liability insurance for the fiscal years 2015-2016, 2016-2017, and 2017-2018, when he knew his ALPS professional liability insurance policy had lapsed on or about

March 1, 2014, and he in fact did not have professional liability insurance, he violated Rule 8.4(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct, as follows:

Rule 8.4. Misconduct.

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to:

 (c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation;

Because Respondent was dishonest to his now former attorney employee when he provided her with false information concerning his professional liability insurance coverage, he also violated Rule 8.4(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct, as provided *supra*.

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has long recognized that attorney disciplinary proceedings are not designed solely to punish the attorney, but also to protect the public, to reassure the public as to the reliability and integrity of attorneys, and to safeguard its interests in the administration of justice. Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Taylor, 192 W.Va. 139, 451 S.E.2d 440 (1994). The ODC asserts that the findings of fact and conclusions of law made by the HPS of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board in its Report were correct and supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole adjudicatory record. The HPS correctly found that Respondent violated the Rules of Professional Conduct and recommended that Respondent be suspended for 100 days, that he complete an additional six (6) hours of CLE in ethics and pay the costs of these proceedings prior filing a petition for reinstatement pursuant to Rule 3.32 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, that he comply with the mandates of Rule 3.28 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, and that at the time of filing a petition for reinstatement pursuant to Rule 3.32 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, he shall fully and accurately disclose to the Lawyer Disciplinary Board what efforts, if any, he has made to procure professional liability insurance.