IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket Number 19-0636

In Re: SCOTT A. CURNUTTE, a member of

The West Virginia State Bar

Bar No. 5780

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

.

SCOTT CURNUTTE

W.VA. BAR # 5780

CURNUTTE LAW

P.O. Box 1605

501 Davis Avenue

ELKINS, WV 26241

304.636.5904

CURNUTTE@JUSTICE.COM

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Formal charges against Respondent were filed 11 July 2019 and served 18 July 2019. Respondent filed an *Answer* 21 August 2019.

A hearing was held 22 October 2019 before the Hearing Panel Subcommittee. Before the hearing, the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel and Respondent entered into written stipulations regarding the relevant facts, and aggravating and mitigating factors pursuant to Rule of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure 3.16. Those stipulations were admitted into evidence. At the hearing, Respondent and Diane Young, Pro Bono Coordinator, West Virginia Legal Aid, testified. Respondent's curriculum vitae was admitted into evidence.

The HPS' Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee was filed 13 February 2020.

On 16 March 2020, the Respondent filed an objection to the recommended disposition.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Hearing Panel Subcommittee failed to acknowledge additional mitigating factors, and failed to balance those properly against the violations and aggravating factors. More, the HPS failed to balance the harm to the public against its recommended sanction.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

By Order entered 17 March 2020, oral argument is scheduled for 22 September 2020.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

In lawyer disciplinary proceedings, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals applies the following standard:

A de novo standard applies to a review of the adjudicatory record made before the [Lawyer Disciplinary Board] as to questions of law, questions of application of the law to the facts, and questions of appropriate sanctions; this Court gives respectful consideration to the [Board's] recommendations while ultimately exercising its own independent judgment. On the other hand, substantial deference is given to the [Board's] findings of fact, unless such findings are not supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole recordreviewing a final order entered by a circuit court judge upon a review of, or upon a refusal to review, a final order of a family court judge, we review the findings of fact made by the family court judge under the clearly erroneous standard, and the application of law to the facts under an abuse of discretion standard. We review questions of law de novo.

Syllabus Point 3, Comm. on Legal Ethics v. McCorkle, 192 W. Va. 286, 452 S.E.2d 377 (1994).

Regarding the appropriate disciplinary action,

In deciding on the appropriate disciplinary action for ethical violations, this Court must consider not only what steps would appropriately punish the respondent attorney, but also whether the discipline imposed is adequate to serve as an effective deterrent to other members of the Bar and at the same time restore public confidence in the ethical standards of the legal profession.

Syl. Pt. 3, Comm. on Legal Ethics v. Blair, 174 W. Va. 494, 327 S.E.2d 671 (1984).

B. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee failed to find additional mitigating factors.

The Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel and Mr. Curnutte entered into written stipulations regarding the relevant facts, and aggravating and mitigating factors pursuant to Rule of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure 3.16.

The Parties stipulated to the existence of the following aggravating factors:

(1) dishonest or selfish motive; (2) a pattern of misconduct in that the conduct involved multiple reporting years; and (3) substantial experience in the practice of law.

(Stipulations, ¶ 25; Report, p. 10).

The Parties stipulated to the existence of the following mitigating factors:

(1) Respondent does not have a prior disciplinary record in that while thirteen (13) complaints, not including the instant matter, have been filed against Respondent since he was admitted to practice in 1991, none resulted in any discipline being imposed on Respondent; (2) full and free disclosure to disciplinary board and cooperative attitude toward proceedings; (3) good faith effort to rectify the consequences of his conduct; and (4) remorse.

(Stipulations, ¶ 24; Report, pp. 10-11).

The Parties agreed Mr. Curnutte could present evidence of, and argue, additional mitigating factors. (Stipulations, ¶ 24). In that regard, Mr. Curnutte presented his own testimony, his curriculum vitae, and the testimony of Diane Young, Pro Bono Coordinator, West Virginia Legal Aid. That evidence was presented primarily in support of one

¹ During these proceedings, an additional complaint was filed against Respondent. That complaint was screened out by the Office of Disciplinary Counsel as not substantiated. Respondent does not know if the Order entered by The Honorable John Preston Bailey in connection with that complaint was received by the Office of Disciplinary Counsel. But, Respondent respectfully requests that Order be made a part of the record herein.

of the mitigating factors adopted by the Supreme Court of Appeals: "character or reputation." Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Scott, 213 W.Va. 209, 216, 579 S.E.2d 550, 557 (2003) (quoting, ABA Model Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, 9.31 (1992)).

Mr. Curnutte has contributed to the development of the law in multiple ways.

Mr. Curnutte has been a member of the Governing Council of the West Virginia Law Institute from 2003 to the present. And, he has served as President of the West Virginia

Law Institute from 2008 to the present. During that time, the West Virginia Law Institute has submitted numerous scholarly reports to aid the West Virginia Legislature.

Mr. Curnutte has actively participated in the West Virginia State Bar. Most recently, he has served as Co-chair of the Family Law Mediation Subcommittee, West Virginia State Bar, from 2018 to the present.

Mr. Curnutte has published several scholarly articles, two of which have been repeatedly cited by the Supreme Court of Appeals as persuasive authority: Reforming the Law of Intestate Succession and Elective Share: New Solutions to Old Problems, 93

W.VA.L.Rev. (1990) (with Dean John Fisher) and Preventing Spousal Disinheritance: An Equitable Solution, 92 W.VA.L.Rev. 441 (1989).

Mr. Curnutte has contributed to the practice of law by teaching various Continuing Legal Education courses from 2000 to the present.

Mr. Curnutte has contributed to the future of the law by teaching various courses at the West Virginia University College of Law continually from 2000 to the present.

Mr. Curnutte has an exemplary record of providing pro bono publico services to the citizens of West Virginia. Diane Young, Pro Bono Coordinator, West Virginia Legal

Aid, testified that Respondent has performed extensive pro bono publico work from 1991 (when he was admitted to the Bar) to the present. In fact, Ms. Young testified he has never declined to provide pro bono publico services when she has asked. In 1999, Mr. Curnutte was awarded the Kaufman Award by the West Virginia State Bar in recognition of the fact that he provided the most pro bono publico services during that year. And, Mr. Curnutte has served as a member of the Pro Bono Committee of West Virginia Legal Aid.

All of the foregoing were established by the testimony of Mr. Curnutte, his curriculum vitae, and the testimony of Diane Young. The Office of Disciplinary Counsel did not disagree about any of that evidence. In its *Report*, however, the HPS does not mention any of that evidence whatsoever. The HPS does not even acknowledge the evidence was presented, other than identifying Ms. Young as a witness in its recitation of the procedural history of the case. (*Report*, p. 2). Those admissions constitute error.

C. A suspension would severely harm a large group of people in an area of the State under-served by legal services.

Mr. Curnutte provides legal, guardian ad litem, and mediation services in a rural region of West Virginia which is under-served in each of the foregoing areas. At present, Mr. Curnutte has a caseload of approximately 125 civil, family law, and federal criminal cases, and serves as guardian ad litem for children in multiple family court circuits.

That caseload does not reflect the approximately 100 family and civil cases (mostly family cases) he mediates each year.

A suspension of Mr. Curnutte's license would mean that approximately 125 clients would be bereft of representation. In an area like Charleston, Morgantown, or Martinsburg, perhaps those client could secure different counsel. But even there, those clients would suffer additional costs and delays. In a rural region like that served by Mr. Curnutte, there simply are not enough attorneys. Those clients would have to proceed pro se; those children would not have guardians ad litem to protect them. As to guardians ad litem and family law mediations, it is a fantasy to pretend they would actually occur; Family Courts in rural areas have an extremely restricted pool from which to draw.

The Hearing Panel Subcommittee failed to take those factors into account.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Curnutte's behavior was clearly wrongful and constituted a violation of his solemn obligations as an attorney. Mr Curnutte has never denied that wrongful conduct, and has been cooperative with the Office of Disciplinary Counsel.

On the other hand, the integrity of the profession demands that he be sanctioned:

misrepresentation by an attorney upon any material issue cannot be tolerated.

It appears this case presents novel issues to the Supreme Court of Appeals. There have been multiple cases involving misrepresentations by attorneys with no clear result: some cases have resulted in suspensions, others in reprimands. But the financial responsibility disclosure requirement provides the public with an important source of information even if there has never been a single instance in which a consumer has ever relied upon it. Mr. Curnutte has never denied that he should be sanctioned.

Mr. Curnutte's service to the public, the Bar, and the profession should be acknowledged, but they are not a shield to insulate him from appropriate discipline.

In determining an appropriate sanction, the Supreme Court of Appeals cannot ignore the impact of its decision upon the residents of the State and the region of it that Mr. Curnutte serves. Suspension of Mr. Curnutte's license would punish at least 125 citizens of this State unreasonably.

Even if no citizen of this State has ever made a decision about whether or not to retain an attorney based upon the Bar's records regarding the financial responsibility requirement, that disclosure is mandated. And, crucially, Mr. Curnutte was not truthful about that disclosure from 2014 to 2017.

A public reprimand is warranted.

SCOTT CURNUTTE

W.VA. BAR # 5780

CURNUTTE LAW

P.O. Box 1605

501 Davis Avenue

ELKINS, WV 26241

304.636.5904